

Minutes of the meeting of Adults and wellbeing scrutiny committee held at Committee Room 1 - The Shire Hall, St. Peter's Square, Hereford, HR1 2HX on Wednesday 23 August 2017 at 2.00 pm

Present: Councillor PA Andrews (Chairman)

Councillor J Stone (Vice-Chairman)

Councillors: ACR Chappell, MJK Cooper, CA Gandy and D Summers

In attendance: Councillor WLS Bowen

Officers: Hazel Braund (NHS Herefordshire Clinical Commissioning Group), John

Coleman Statutory Scrutiny Officer), Simon Hairsnape (NHS Herefordshire Clinical Commissioning Group), Jane Ives (Wye Valley NHS Trust), Dr Arif

Mahmood (Consultant in public health), lan Stead (Healthwatch

Herefordshire)

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies were received from Cllr PE Crockett and Cllr RL Mayo.

2. NAMED SUBSTITUTES (IF ANY)

Cllr ACR Chappell attended as a substitute for Councillor PE Crockett.

3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

There were no declarations of interest.

4. QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC

There were no questions from members of the public.

5. QUESTIONS FROM COUNCILLORS

There were no questions from councillors.

6. COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME 2017-18

The chairman outlined the committee's work programme which was based on two scrutiny work programme development sessions attended by members in June 2017. It was acknowledged that the items listed for scrutiny were proposals and that the work programme would be reviewed regularly and adjusted as necessary during the year to ensure priority items were covered.

RESOLVED

That the proposed work programme and committee schedule be approved.

7. SERVICES COMMISSIONED FROM WYE VALLEY NHS TRUST – QUALITY AND SUSTAINABILITY

The accountable officer, Herefordshire Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) and the manging director, Wye Valley NHS Trust (WVT) presented the slides (appendix a). A number of key points were highlighted:

- Wye Valley NHS Trust was the major health service provider commissioned through a contract of £118million funded through the Department of Health. The Trust received additional income from out of county patients, for example Powys, contributing some 20% of WVT income.
- WVT had been lifted out of special measures by the Care Quality Commission in 2016 and was now rated as "requires improvement". A new leadership team was making a difference to performance along with other factors including One Herefordshire, with organisations working together as part of the wider health and social care family. WVT had identified clinical and organisational priorities for 2017/18 to help sustain improved performance.
- The financial context of WVT was not unique, as it was not unusual for small rural hospitals to have financial challenges because of how the national funding formula worked. However, there was a cost improvement programme in place for 2017-18 that was designed to reduce the deficit to between £15m and £20m. The sustainability and transformation plan was designed to support efficiencies in service provision as a contributing factor.
- The most significant performance targets reflected local needs and concerns. In particular:
 - o the CCG and WVT had created a plan that had enabled additional funding to be secured to meet the national standard requirement for 92% of patients to be seen within 18 weeks of referral
 - o there was work to do around continued improvement in A&E performance. However, it was noted that the national standard was met in Warwick and the new leadership arrangements, with links to South Warwickshire Foundation Trust, would provide access to good practice approaches to make a difference in Hereford
 - o Cancer services were improving and all standards had been achieved in May
 - o steps were being taken to ensure that delayed transfers of care were improving and to work towards a model of ensuring people are supported to leave hospital with the right care at home.
- The future performance of WVT would be supported through the contract with the CCG, and ensuring this worked in the best interest of population. There was increasing opportunity with other NHS providers and the voluntary and community sector working together to support this.

During the presentation members raised a number of questions and comments, with the following responses offered by officers:

In answer to a request for more detailed information on how money is spent, it was explained that it would be possible to provide a breakdown in the portfolio of contracts, although it should be noted that much of the income was driven by national arrangements such as the GP contract and so there was little discretion around price of services.

In terms of out of county patients and particularly in relation to Powys services, there was a good relationship and there was a degree of discretion around charges as well as some national drivers. It was noted that systems in Wales were more paper-based than in England, where most referrals were electronic.

The managing director would be full-time at WVT from September as part of the new leadership team in partnership with South Warwickshire Foundation Trust. The new arrangements would support continuous improvement and strengthen WVT's sustainability as a small district general hospital.

A member commented that staff at the hospital were giving good feedback and asked what support was available for staff when they had difficulties. It was confirmed that there was much available to support staff health and wellbeing and staff engagement.

It was acknowledged that recruitment was a challenge for public services. A significant driver in needing to address recruitment and retention of nurses was the expenditure on agency workers. Progress was being made on medical recruitment in Paediatrics and in Obstetrics and Gynaecology. A new single agency supplier scheme would be starting in September to help manage the rates paid to agency workers, but there remained the element of competition and market forces with particular agencies paying significantly higher rates.

A member welcomed the focus on managing sepsis but commented on the early management of deteriorating patients and the link to reducing mortality as an inherent activity. It was acknowledged that in comparison with national figures, WVT had a higher rate of mortality than expected and this needed to be understood in more depth. There was a range of steps to address these linked clinical issues, and improving discharge pathways and urgent care performance was part of this.

A brief discussion took place on this issue, noting possible links to rurality and how vulnerable or isolated people are noticed in order to address problems before they escalate. Public health, communities and parish councils played a part in this and it was important for professionals to keep in touch with local issues to support early intervention.

The financial summary was welcomed and to clarify further, it was explained that in relation to the term 'structural deficit', there were elements relating to commitments such as PFI (private finance initiative) that were not currently possible to address, but there was some £20m which was being addressed. A member commented on the interest spent on borrowing whilst other services were being supported centrally by government and queried whether a line could be drawn under this to allow WVT to move to a better financial position. It was clarified that deficits were expected by NHS Improvement to be resolved and to cease reliance on drawing upon future funding.

A member asked with regard to a national push for achieving economies of scale, what was the likelihood of funding being diverted away from the county hospital and services moved to other providers. It was the view that the people of Herefordshire and Mid-Wales needed a district general hospital with necessary services but unlike other counties, there were no alternative sites and it was the intention to protect these services. However, it was important to emphasise that ultimately this would be for central government to determine. A member suggested that financial sustainability needed to be explored further by the committee as a specific item.

Officers were congratulated on securing the additional £2.9m funding to meet the 18-week standard referral to treatment time. To provide more detail on how this would be used, it was explained that it would enable WVT to pay for additional workforce time and for directing referrals to other providers as temporary measures until the issue was addressed. It had been possible, drawing upon previous experiences, to demonstrate to NHS England that the additional funding would be used wisely.

With reference to historic issues from 2015 regarding referral letters not being received, it was confirmed that the CCGs in Worcestershire and Herefordshire were working

together to resolve referral routes and funding for treatment and to ensure that referrals into Herefordshire came with funding.

It was clarified that the term streaming used in the presentation referred to establishing primary care resources into the system to compliment services and support improvement although this was dependent on how the workforce was planned and designed and it would take some time to build capacity.

Responding to concern regarding ability to respond to winter pressures, assurance was given that WVT was in a better place to respond although a bad winter would be a significant pressure. Winter planning had already started and there were plans identified to respond to pressures and prioritise urgent care. It was felt that Herefordshire responded comparatively well to winter pressures.

With reference to any increase in numbers at A&E since the closure of the walk-in centre, it was noted that although it would be reasonable to expect some impact, there had been a small decrease since 28 July and people had not presented to A&E. A member thanked officers for ensuring there had been a member of staff at the site of the former walk-in centre to signpost people.

A member noted that there had been some recent press commentary regarding waiting times for colonoscopies. Assurance was given that cancer services were performing well and diagnostic services were at 99% achievement of responding within 6 weeks of referral and this had been maintained for 18 months. It was noted that in relation to mortality, although people moved to hospices for palliative or end of life care, the performance in diagnostics and treatment waiting times did have an effect on general mortality rates.

With regard to delayed transfers of care, it was acknowledged that some people remained in hospital when they could be cared for elsewhere and this was being addressed to ensure better patient care and reduce reliance on hospital beds. The delays were attributed to management of discharges for people outside the county rather than within Herefordshire. However, it was noted that there was an increasing demand for care at home that was challenging to meet, although the aim was to work to a model which supported people to be assessed for ongoing care back at home rather than in hospital. A member commented that transfer pathways could be developed for use as soon as someone was admitted to hospital so that care was planned at the outset. Officers confirmed that this was the aspiration as there were predictable elements that could be put in place in advance of need, although it was noted that this relied on support being in place at home and resources available in the community such as through the community and voluntary sector.

RESOLVED

That

- a) Improved performance of Wye Valley NHS Trust and plans for continuing improvement, as supported through contractual arrangements with the Clinical Commissioning Group, be noted; and
- b) Financial sustainability of Wye Valley NHS Trust be included as a specific area for further scrutiny in the committee's work programme.

8. COMMUNITY SERVICES PROGRAMME – PUBLIC ENGAGEMENT

The director of operations, Herefordshire Clinical Commissioning Group, presented the slides (appendix a), making the following key points:

 The intended approach to engagement was informed by feedback from engagement work carried out by Healthwatch.

- The vision was to empower patients to access the right care in the right place at the right time. This was represented in diagrammatic form as a blue print model which would be a talking point during engagement with communities. The blue print model was designed to show how support should begin within communities, around the person, with short-term specialist services reaching in. It sought to ensure all services used the same language and shifted to an integrated approach.
- The scope for engagement was wide, with top level strategic engagement and primary care working together to ensure that services were appropriate for managing both physical and mental health care needs. Engagement processes differed for urban and rural areas, with differing priorities and solutions, so the intention was to focus on localities.
- It was recognised that the distinction between engagement and consultation was not clear to everyone, so this had been explained in presentations. However, the patient story was the key and the critical point was for people to be able to tell the CCG about their experiences and whether they are getting access to the right support. Some sessions included one to one conversations to talk about specific issues and other approaches were more collective.
- A key emerging theme was that people wanted help to remain as well as possible; the Healthwatch engagement was helping to draw out themes which were published online and would be used to feed back to communities and encourage further engagement.
- There were various approaches to reaching communities including social media, although some aspects of this needed refining to ensure it was locality focused.
- A number of future events were arranged and details were on the 'your conversation' website. There was encouragement for communities and individuals to spread the word and members were asked to suggest other groups. This approach was intended to identify some firm proposals for consultation and it was hoped that these would reflect back in the consultations so that people could recognise them.

Members made a number of observations and suggestions for developing the engagement during the presentation. These included:

- That the pathways and support for people could be expanded and further examples made available so that people were better informed to know that they were receiving appropriate care and support for their condition. It was noted that not all people understood the various care pathways, such and what happens between seeing a GP and attending hospital and what support is available in the community, including the signposting role of WISH.
- That the local radio such as BBC Hereford and Worcester would be an effective way
 of reaching people, such as through a phone-in session which would encourage
 engagement of people who did not use online social media or who were unable to
 attend events.
- Rural areas were notably difficult to get to, but events in these localities could be
 promoted via parish councils for example through their magazines or websites. So
 far it was felt that the engagement had been very low key and that more could be
 made of existing meetings or groups within localities. Officers added that these
 were a target group and there were links already made with library focus groups and
 patient participation groups, with which there was an ongoing relationship.
- A further suggestion for reaching people was to set up a presence in supermarket foyers. Officers recognised that more was required to engage with different parts of the community and confirmed that there were pop-up events coming up which also included GP practices and surveys. Groups were welcome to promote their services and activities at the same time as this would encourage community self-help. There were other hard to reach groups and individuals and the right approach was being considered in conjunction with Healthwatch.

- Members commented on the engagement within GP surgeries, observing that whilst this would mostly be focused on people who had existing medical conditions, they would have a lot to tell about their experiences.
- In terms of the level of engagement as a percentage of the population, this was dependent on the venue and it was noted that a target area yet to reach was South Wve.
- As regards people talking about mental health, dementia had been included in particular the impact on carers, and the events had been used to promote certain services such as 'Let's talk' for mental health. The whole spectrum of health and wellbeing was being included but it was noted that there were particular groups of people who were less aware of services, such as young to middle-aged men.
- It was noted that there were many different ways that people could be targeted but also that people had differing preferences over how they access support and so a variety of engagement methods was required, but this needed to be achievable with the resources available.

RESOLVED

That

- a) Officers be commended for the approach to engagement as outlined;
- b) it be recommended to the CCG to consider making further use of existing community groups and networks, including parish councils, supermarkets and local radio; and
- c) that the outcomes from the engagement phase ending in October be presented to the committee at the next available meeting in order for the committee to consider further recommendations for next steps.

The meeting ended at 4.21 pm

Chairman